FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/1/2019 3:36 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97507-8 (Court of Appeals No. 77935-4-I)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## SHARON KAY and JIM HOWE,

Respondents,

and

THOMAS and MARIE DICKENS,

Defendants,

VS.

KING COUNTY, a municipal corporation,

Petitioner.

# APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Catherine D. Shaffer, Judge

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Address: Financial Center 1215 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98161-1087 (206) 292-4900

520 Pike Street, Suite 1525 Seattle, WA 98101-1351 (206) 204-6802 REED McCLURE By Marilee C. Erickson WSBA #16144 Attorneys for Petitioner

## I. NATURE OF THE CASE

King County worked to fulfill the purposes of RCW 8.25.075 and tried to settle this case. King County wanted to resolve this case. The County offered \$552,000. But the property owner would not settle for any amount less than \$1 million.

At trial, Kay asked for a finding of a total taking. Kay presented evidence that her home was of exceptional quality and her expert's appraisal value assumed that was true. Kay testified her property was worth \$700,000. The jury did not find a total taking. The jury found a partial taking that minimally diminished the value of Kay's property. The jury concluded the property had a value of \$585,000 and the fair market value was \$650,000 for a partial taking in the amount of \$65,000. Interest was added to the \$65,000 and the court entered judgment of \$96,221.37.

Kay moved for an award of attorney fees under RCW 8.25.075(3) arguing she had received \$681,221.37 compared to King County's \$552,000 offer. The superior court denied Kay's motion accepting King County's position that Kay's judgment of \$96,221.37, was much less than the County's \$552,000 offer. Kay appealed.

Many months after the trial, King County learned the home's condition was substantially worse than it was portrayed in evidence presented at trial. Kay's appraisal value was based on this faulty

assumption. The post-trial inspection of the home called into question the basis upon which the jury reached its determination of fair market value and the corresponding diminished value amount for the partial taking. These amounts form the basis of Kay's trial and appellate theories.

Division I of the Court of Appeals reversed the superior court's order and remanded for entry of an award of attorney's fees and expenses under RCW 8.25.075(3). Division I rewrote RCW 8.25.075(3), adding language not contained in the statute. King County respectfully petitions the Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision and reinstate and affirm the superior court's decision.

### II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Should this Court accept review where Division I's decision rewrites the language of RCW 8.25.075(3) to impose an obligation to pay attorney fees to a property owner who obtained a judgment less than that highest written offer of settlement and thus creates an issue of substantial public interest which this Court should decide? RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 2. Should this Court accept review where Division I's decision imposes an unworkable situation for the acquiring agency trying to settle an inverse condemnation claim and thus creates an issue of substantial public interest which this Court should decide? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. Should this Court accept review where Division I's decision is premised on the jury's conclusion that the Kay property was valued at \$650,000 and new evidence reveals Kay's home was vastly inferior in condition and quality to that which was portrayed at trial? RAP 9.11.

## III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs Kay and Howe sued King County for inverse condemnation. (CP 1-10) Howe has no ownership rights in the property. (CP 70-71, 76) Therefore, the remainder of this petition refers to Kay only.

The County tried to settle the case. The County offered to settle for \$400,000, without a requirement that Kay transfer title to the property. (CP 123, 129) In December 2016, the County increased its offer to \$450,000, again without requirement that Kay transfer title to the property. (CP 123, 129) In August 2017, more than thirty days before trial, the County submitted a written offer of settlement for \$552,000. (CP 101-02, 131-32)

The County's offer was based on an appraisal report. (CP 139) The offer was only \$18,000 less than Kay's appraiser report of \$570,000. (CP 139) Kay rejected the County's offer. (CP 134-35) Kay believed her property was worth \$700,000. (10/2/2017 RP 34)<sup>1</sup> (see footnote 2 infra). She demanded \$1,275,000 to settle the case. (CP 139)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The transcript should be dated 10/2/2017 rather than 10/1/2017, which was a Sunday.

A jury trial was held from September 19, 2017, to October 16, 2017. (CP 75) At trial, Kay presented evidence regarding the condition of her home. Jim Howe, Kay's longtime partner, testified that he was remodeling the home (9/26/2017 RP 19)<sup>2</sup> He rewired the entire home and expanded the kitchen. (9/26/2017 RP 20) At the time of trial, he testified that the remodeling was completed except for the "finish work." (9/26/2017 RP 40-41) Sharon Kay testified that based on Jim Howe's belief, the house was worth \$700,000. (10/2/2017 RP 34) Richard Hagar, an appraiser, testified for the plaintiffs. He appraised the Kay property in November 2016 and concluded, based on the assumption that the remodeling was complete, its value was \$570,000. (10/3/2017 RP 65, 67-69)

Kay asked the jury to find inverse condemnation and a total taking and award a fair market value for her property. Kay alternatively asked the jury to find a partial taking and, if there was a partial taking, the diminished value of the property. (CP 47, 56, 58) The jury found no total taking. (CP 70) The jury found a partial taking that damaged the value of Kay's property in the amount of \$65,000, concluding that the property had a value of \$585,000 and the fair market value was \$650,000. (CP 71-72) Adding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Appendix C - Excerpts of Trial Proceedings Transcripts: 9/26/2017, 10/2/2017, and 10/3/2017. Appellants did not order a Verbatim Report of Proceedings for the appellate record in the Court of Appeals. Copies are provided from the daily transcripts of the trial Court Reporters.

prejudgment interest, the court entered judgment of \$96,221.37 on Kay's inverse condemnation claim. (CP 75) A copy of the Judgment on Verdict is attached hereto as Appendix F.

Kay moved for attorney fees under RCW 8.25.075(3) arguing King County's highest offer did not exceed the judgment by at least ten percent. (CP 78-79) The trial court denied the motion for fees. (CP 158-59) Kay appealed. (CP 160-63)

On June 3, 2019, the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued its unpublished decision reversing the superior court's order and remanded "with instructions to enter an appropriate award of attorney fees to Kay." Opinion at page 13. Division I concluded that "[b]ecause [Kay's] request [for attorney fees] was denied contrary to the letter and intent of the statute governing attorney fee awards in inverse condemnation actions, we reverse." Opinion at page 1. Division I adopted a "qualifying offer" approach. Division I also added contract principle language to the statutory language. The Court ruled the amount the plaintiff retains after a trial is the amount to analyze for purposes of RCW 8.25.075(3). Rather than use the judgment amount, Division I concluded that if, after trial, plaintiff retains an amount that exceeds by ten percent or more the amount of the offer had plaintiff accepted the offer, the plaintiff is entitled to attorney fees.

King County's motion for reconsideration was denied. A copy of the Opinion and that court's July 2, 2019, order denying reconsideration are attached hereto as Appendix A and Appendix B respectively. King County asks this Court to accept review.

Six months after the trial, in April 2018, King County had the Kay property inspected and learned that the home was not in the condition as portrayed at trial. See Appendix D, Inspection Report dated April 27, 2018.<sup>3</sup> The home looked like a construction zone with missing doors, debris everywhere, and incomplete drywall. The inspector found the electrical system throughout the house was incomplete and unsafe. *Id.* The kitchen needed remodeling. The shower was missing from the master bedroom and there was no waste plumbing. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See RAP 9.11, which provides in relevant part "[t]he appellate court may direct that additional evidence . . . be taken . . . if: (1) additional proof of facts is needed to fairly resolve the issues on review, (2) the additional evidence would probably change the decision being reviewed, (3) it is equitable to excuse a party's failure to present the evidence to the trial court, (4) the remedy available to a party through postjudgment motions in the trial court is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive, (5) the appellate court remedy of granting a new trial is inadequate or unnecessarily expense, and (6) it would be inequitable to decide the case solely on the evidence already taken in the trial court."

#### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH WASHINGTON'S RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.

This case raises an issue of substantial public interest which this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Division I's decision ignored the established rules of statutory construction. The decision added language to RCW 8.25.075(3) and overlooked legislative intent.

Statutory construction begins with the language the legislature used in the statute. *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 470, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). The primary goal in analyzing statutes is to give effect to the legislative intent. The intent is derived from construing the language as a whole and giving effect to every provision. *Costich*, 152 Wn.2d at 470, *citing*, *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003).

The plain meaning of the statute is derived not only from the statute at hand, but also "all that the Legislature has said in the ... related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question."

State v. Costich, 152 Wn.2d at 470 citing Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002), quoted in J.P., 149 Wn.2d at 450, 69 P.3d 318.

RCW 8.25.075(3) states:

A superior court rendering a judgment for the plaintiff awarding compensation for the taking or damaging of real property for public use without just compensation having first been made to the owner shall award or allow to such plaintiff costs including reasonable attorney fees and reasonable expert witness fees, but only if the judgment awarded to the plaintiff as a result of trial exceeds by ten percent or more the highest written offer of settlement submitted by the acquiring agency to the plaintiff at least thirty days prior to trial.

Division I's decision adds language to the statute. Division I adds several phrases to RCW 8.25.075(3). First the Court reads into the statute the phrase "qualifying good faith settlement offer." Opinion at page 7. The Court states the settlement offer constitutes a "qualifying" offer if it "allows for application of the statutorily required comparison." *Id.* The Court also adopts Kay's contention that RCW 8.25.075(3) requires a comparison of the "value" of the offer to the "value" of the final judgment. Opinion at page 12. None of this language is contained in RCW 8.25.075(3).

RCW 8.25.075(3) does not contain the word "qualifying." RCW 8.25.075(3) does not contain the word "comparison." RCW 8.25.075(3) does not contain the word "value." By adding words to the statute, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the established Washington law that a statute's meaning is derived from its language. *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20, 50 P.3d 638 (2002). A court should not "add language to an unambiguous statute even if it believes the Legislature intended something else but did not adequately express it." *Kilian*, 147 Wn.2d at 20, *citing*,

Wash. State Coalition for the Homeless v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 133 Wn.2d 894, 904, 949 P.2d 1291 (1997).

Not only does Division I's decision add words to RCW 8.25.075(3), the Court of Appeals read contract principles into the statute to construe the terms of a settlement offer. The Court of Appeals concludes that to apply the statute, King County's settlement offer must be analyzed using contract principles. Opinion at 7. RCW 8.25.075(3) does not state attorney fees and expenses are awarded when the settlement offer, if it had been accepted, is compared to the judgment awarded to the plaintiff. The statute expressly states fees are awarded if "the judgment awarded to the plaintiff as a result of trial exceeds by ten percent or more the highest written offer of settlement." RCW 8.25.075(3). Had the legislature intended to mean the judgment awarded as a result of the trial must exceed by ten percent the written offer of settlement "if accepted," the legislature would have included those words or words to that effect. State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 728-29, 63 P.3d 792 (2003); State v. Slattum, 173 Wn. App. 640, 655-56, 295 P.3d 788, rev. denied, 178 Wn.2d 1010 (2013). The Court of Appeals decision rewrites the statute.

The Court of Appeals cites to *Sherrod v. Kidd*, 138 Wn. App. 73, 75, 155 P.3d 976 (2007) and *Stottlemyre v. Reed*, 35 Wn. App. 169, 171, 665 P.2d 1383, *rev. denied*, 100 Wn.2d 1015 (1983). Neither *Sherrod* nor

Stottlemyre speak to the question of whether an acquiring agency's written offer of settlement exceeded the judgment awarded to a plaintiff as a result of a trial. Each case involved whether or not a settlement agreement was enforceable.

Here there was no settlement agreement. King County made a written offer of settlement. Kay did not accept the offer of settlement. Superimposing the concepts of what constitutes an acceptance or settlement agreement onto RCW 8.25.075(3) is inconsistent with established Washington law prohibiting a court from reading into a statute matters that are not in the statute. *Killian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 21, 50 P.3d 638 (2002).

Finally, Division I's decision disregards the legislative intent—that the attorney fee provision is a narrow exception to the general rule of non-recovery of litigation expenses in condemnation actions. *Daviscourt v. Piestrup*, 40 Wn. App. 433, 444, 698 P.2d 1093, *rev. denied*, 104 Wn.2d 1008 (1985). The primary purpose of the attorney fees provision is to encourage settlement. *Cascade Sewer Dist. v. King Cty.*, 56 Wn. App. 446, 450, 783 P.2d 1113 (1989).

The Cascade Sewer Court rejected the argument that only private condemnees are entitled to award of attorney fees. The Cascade Sewer District court noted:

Our analysis of RCW 8.25.075 begins with the observation that this statute was enacted to bring Washington in conformity with the federal Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 so that state and local governments could obtain financial aid in real property acquisitions. *Daviscourt*, 40 Wash. App. at 442, 698 P.2d 1093; *see also* House Trans. Comm. Report, SSB 770, 42nd Legislature, 1st Ex. Sess. (1971). The federal act "has been strictly construed as creating only a narrow exception to the general rule of nonrecovery of litigation expenses [in condemnation cases]."

56 Wn. App. at 449. By adding words and concepts that are not contained in the statute, Division I altered the statute's meaning and changed the narrow exception to recovery of litigation expenses into a broad path for recovery of litigation expenses.

Here King County's written offer of settlement in the amount of \$552,000 far exceeded the \$65,000 reduction of value found by the jury and the \$196,221.37 "judgment awarded to the plaintiff as a result of trial." RCW 8.25.075(3). King County respectfully requests that this Court to accept review and affirm the superior court's order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The \$196,221.37 judgment amount consisted of \$50,000 to Kay and \$50,000 to Howe for negligence and nuisance, plus \$65,000 for inverse condemnation and \$31,221.37 in interest on the inverse condemnation. (CP 74-75)

# B. DIVISION I'S INTERPRETATION OF RCW 8.25.075(3) REWARDS A PROPERTY OWNER WHO WILL NOT SETTLE AND CREATES A CHALLENGE FOR THE GOVERNMENT AGENCY TRYING TO SETTLE.

This case raises an issue of public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Government entities working diligently to resolve a case are hampered when the property owner refuses to settle the case and then obtain a judgment which is much lower than the government's settlement offer. Allowing property owners to recover attorney fees and expenses under these circumstances allows the property owner to game the system and congest the courts with unnecessary litigation. Using Division I's analysis, the only way the County could have avoided paying fees and costs was to offer \$600,00 - an amount \$30,000 higher than the value assigned by Kay's appraisal. (CP 139)

The statutory scheme is designed to promote settlement and to ensure the governmental agency does not manipulate the process by making unreasonably low offers. The County complied with the statute and prevailed against appellant's total taking claim. The purpose of the attorneys' fee and costs provision of RCW 8.25.075 is, in part, "to reduce litigation and relieve congestion in the courts" and to "encourage settlement". *Cascade Sewer Dist. v. King Cty.*, 56 Wn. App. 446, 450, 783 P.2d 1113 (1989).

Here King County tried to settle the case. Kay would not accept a settlement for anything less than a total taking amount. During negotiations, Kay explicitly took the position the total taking offer was the "benchmark" the County had to come within 10% of. (CP 138) Kay asked the jury for a total taking. The jury rejected the total taking and found only a partial taking. (CP 70-72) The County offered Kay far more than the jury awarded her. (CP 101-02) Awarding fees to Kay rewards her and does not fulfill the purpose of RCW 8.25.075. The statute is not designed to award fees and costs under these circumstances.

This Court of Appeals decision creates a challenge for the government entity which is trying to settle. The Court of Appeals interpretation and application of RCW 8.25.075(3) requires the government to predict the outcome of the trial. Where the property owner is pursuing multiple theories of recovery, the government entity has to submit settlement offers that address every contingent outcome based on the property owner's theories. Such a requirement is unworkable.

RCW 8.25.075(3) directs that only the "highest" offer is to be considered for purposes of an award of attorneys' fees and costs. Where an inverse condemnation plaintiff will only accept settlement for a full taking (and argues for a full taking at trial), a "total taking" offer would necessarily be higher than any "partial taking" offer made. Because the court can only

consider the "highest" offer under the statute, where both a lower "partial taking" offer and a higher "total taking" offer are made, and the jury returns a verdict for a partial taking, there is no way for the government entity to guard against an award of fees and costs. The Court of Appeals decision endorses such an outcome which is fundamentally flawed and renders the statute unfair and unworkable.

C. THIS CASE RAISES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE BECAUSE DIVISION I'S DECISION REWARDS A PROPERTY OWNER WHO HAS PRESENTED EVIDENCE OF PROPERTY CONDITIONS WHICH WERE INCONSISTENT WITH REALITY.

This Court will accept review if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The jury's determination of the fair market value of Kay's property at \$650,000 was premised on evidence about the property condition that did not reflect reality. Kay presented evidence about the high quality and condition of the remodeled home, and her expert's appraisal value wrongly assumed this was true. Six months after the jury's verdict, an inspection revealed the home's condition to be something else entirely. See Appendix C. The home looked like a construction zone. The remodeling was not at all complete. The kitchen needed remodeling. The electrical system in the home was deficient and unsafe. The master bedroom shower and tub were

not functional. It is unjust to permit a property owner who remains unwilling to settle to recover for attorney fees when the judgment entered was based on a jury verdict premised on inaccurate information. It is particularly unjust when the property owner spends one month in trial and seeks attorney fees of \$600,000, plus expert costs of \$180,000, based on a jury award of \$65,000.5 (CP 75, 127)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Appendix E - Plaintiff Kay's Motion for Statutory Attorneys Fees and Costs (CP 78-89); Declaration of Bradley B. Jones in Support of Plaintiff Kay's Motion for Statutory Attorney Fees and Costs (CP 90-114); Defendant's Response to Plaintiff Kay's Motion for Statutory Attorneys Fees and Costs (CP 115-22); Declaration of Timothy J. Repass in Support of Defendant King County's Response to Kay's Motion for Statutory Attorneys Fees (CP 123-40); Plaintiff Kay's Reply to Motion for Statutory Attorneys Fees and Costs (CP 141-54); Declaration of Stephen J. Tan in Support of Plaintiff Kay's Motion for Statutory Attorneys' Fees and Costs (CP 155-57); Order Denying Plaintiff Kay's Motion for Statutory Attorneys' Fees and Costs (CP 158-59).

#### V. **CONCLUSION**

This petition for review raises issues of public importance. King County respectfully requests that this Court accept review.