FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/3/2019 4:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97507-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHARON KAY and JIM HOWE,

Respondents,

and

THOMAS and MARIE DICKENS,

Defendants,

vs.

KING COUNTY, a municipal corporation,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP Bradley B. Jones, WSBA #17197 Reuben Schutz, WSBA #44767 Attorneys for Appellants

Suite 2100 1201 Pacific Avenue Tacoma, WA 98401-1157 (253) 620-6500

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

III. ARGUMENT

At its core, the question before the Court is: Does context matter? 16 It must.

There is simply no authority for – and no good reason why – courts should ignore the context, nature, and total value of the offers made and relief received when evaluating offers made under RCW 8.25.075(3). Ignoring the context and total value would lead to absurd results that are contrary to the statute's purpose.

Tellingly, the County's Petition does not allege that the Court of Appeals decision "is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court,"

¹⁵ Id. at page 12.

¹⁶ In all similar situations, courts consider all aspects of the value of the offer - and the ultimate relief received - when determining whether the plaintiff recovered more or less than the offer at trial. See, e.g., Reiter v. MTA New York City Transit Auth., 457 F.3d 224 (2d Cir. 2006) (comparing monetary offer and judgment that included nonmonetary relief in the form of employment reinstatement under Rule 68); Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. EEOC, 691 F.2d 438, 439-42 (9th Cir. 1982) (considering offer of judgment consenting to an injunction against disclosure of information under Rule 68); Lish v. Harper's Magazine Found., 148 F.R.D. 516, 520 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (considering judgment's grant of authorial right to control publication and judicial determination of copyright violation). See Thomas L. Cubbage III, Note, Federal Rule 68 Offers of Judgment and Equitable Relief: Where Angels Fear to Tread, 70 Tex. L. Rev. 465, 475 (1991) (surveying court decisions involving the application of Rule 68 to equitable relief and articulating a set of criteria for evaluating the favorableness of equitable offers and judgments). See also Mesa Forest Products, Inc. v. St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co., 73 Cal. App. 4th 324 (1999) (considering post-offer payments made by the defendant as part of relief received for Rule 68 purposes even though payment was not part of the judgment); Mullenmaster v. Newbern, 679 So.2d 1186 (Fla. Ct. App. 1996) (considering the value of the transfer of ownership of property for Rule 68 purposes).

or "in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals," or that its decision raises "a significant question of law under the Constitution" of Washington or the U.S.¹⁷ Instead, King County, the largest county in the state that likely has more experience with eminent domain and inverse condemnation law than any other, argues that the Court of Appeals decision "imposes an unworkable situation" 18 that "allows the property owner to game the system and congest the courts." 19 This argument conveniently ignores the fact that in any eminent domain or inverse condemnation proceeding the County-or any other condemnor-is the master of its own destiny. It controls the activity that has or will cause a taking or damaging. It controls the decision of whether to initiate an eminent domain action or to deny any liability in response to an inverse condemnation claim. And most importantly, it entirely controls the offer to be evaluated under the statute. It determines the amount, what the amount is for and any conditions on the offer.

-

¹⁷ RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

¹⁸ Petition for Review, page 2.

¹⁹ Id. at page 12.

A. INVERSE CONDEMNATION DIFFERS SUBSTANTIALLY FROM EMINENT DOMAIN.

Over the last five decades the Washington legislature has codified various processes, procedures and duties regarding the exercise of eminent domain authority or the effect of inverse condemnation. In response to perceived unfairness to condemnees, in 1967 the Legislature passed RCW 8.25.070 and 8.25.075. Both are fee-shifting statutes. Their purpose is to encourage a fair settlement before trial and ensure that the agency that is involved in taking a property makes a good faith effort to settle.²⁰ The statutes also allow property owners who are forced to proceed to trial to recover their litigation expenses if the agency fails to make an adequate offer of compensation – defined to be no less than 10 percent below the fair market value established by the jury.²¹

RCW 8.25.070 applies to cases of traditional eminent domain. While similar to RCW 8.25.070, RCW 8.25.075(3) specifically applies to claims for inverse condemnation.²² The statute authorizes attorney fees and cost for both the taking and damaging of real property:

A superior court rendering a judgment for the plaintiff awarding compensation for the taking or damaging of

²⁰ City of Seattle v. McCoy, 112 Wn. App. 26, 32, 48 P.3d 993 (2002).

²¹ Id.

²² City of Snohomish v. Joslin, 9 Wn. App. 495, 499, 513 P.2d 293 (1973).

real property for public use without just compensation having first been made to the owner shall award or allow to such plaintiff costs including reasonable attorney fees and reasonable expert witness fees, but only if the judgment awarded to the plaintiff as a result of trial exceeds by ten percent or more the highest written offer of settlement submitted by the acquiring agency to the plaintiff at least thirty days prior to trial.²³

The statute "clearly manifests a legislative intent that if a condemnor chooses to take property without instituting condemnation proceedings, the owner shall be reimbursed for his costs of litigation in obtaining his constitutionally guaranteed just compensation." ²⁴ An award of reasonable attorney and expert witness fees is not discretionary when an owner's compensation, as determined by the jury and reduced to judgment, exceeds the condemnor's highest written offer proffered at least 30-days prior to trial by at least 10 percent. ²⁵

In both traditional eminent domain and inverse condemnation cases, the two fee-shifting statutes contemplate a monetary offer. In traditional condemnation proceedings, where the condemnor seeks or has already obtained actual ownership of, or a more limited ownership right in, the property for a public use, "any settlement offer will

²³ RCW 8.25.075(3).

²⁴ Joslin, 9 Wn. App. at 499.

²⁵ State v. Forrest, 78 Wn.2d 721, 722, 479 P.2d 45 (1971).

necessarily be an offer to purchase the specific property right at issue.

... Thus, when settlement discussions fail, a subsequently entered judgment will necessarily reflect the fair market value of the specific property right."²⁶ In such a case there is an easy "apples to apples" comparison between the offer and the jury's award. And the end result is that, in return for the payment of money, the condemnor receives conveyance and ownership of the specific interest in the property it sought.

Inverse condemnation is significantly different. While it is conceivable that a total taking may occur in an inverse condemnation case – for example if the government action diminishes the property value to zero – generally a property is merely damaged or devalued by government action. When that happens, the damages are equal to the amount the property has diminished in fair market value.²⁷ A successful plaintiff remains the owner of his or her devalued property and is awarded damages as compensation for the diminished fair-market value.²⁸ The decline in value of the property is measured at the time of trial.²⁹

²⁶ Opinion at page 4.

²⁷ Peterson v. Port of Seattle, 94 Wn.2d 479, 482-83, 618 P.2d 67 (1980).

²⁸ Id.

²⁹ <u>ld</u>.

In practice, in a trial of an inverse condemnation claim, the alleged condemnor usually denies that its actions have resulted in *any* inverse condemnation of a property interest, while the condemnee will argue that the condemnor has damaged or taken some, most, or all of the value of its property. Thus, unlike an eminent-domain action, where the specific property interest at issue is known, ³⁰ in an inverse condemnation claim the parties are fighting not only about liability but about the amount of the property interest taken or damaged and its value. If the jury finds anything less than a total taking, the owner receives damages for the diminished value of the property but still retains full title and ownership.

B. OFFERS FOR INVERSE CONDEMNATION DAMAGES ARE DIFFERENT THAN OFFERS FOR THE PURCHASE OF PROPERTY UNDER EMINENT DOMAIN.

Given these important distinctions between eminent domain and inverse condemnation, offers made in the context of an eminent domain proceeding are significantly different in kind. In eminent domain, the condemnor admits it wants the property, both parties know the exact property interest at issue, and the fight is only over valuation.

³⁰ For example, for County—initiated condemnations, the County must submit a petition "in which the land, real estate, premises, or other property sought to be appropriated *shall be described with reasonable certainty.*" RCW 8.08.610.

[4827-5076-9571]

But in an inverse condemnation action the government is not seeking any property interest and, as in this case, hotly contesting that its conduct has caused an inverse condemnation. Moreover, an inverse condemnation plaintiff is simply asking for damages without any transfer of a property interest to the condemnor, and thus the condemnor's offer should be for payment of damages only. Adding a condition requiring that the owner transfer title to his or her property to the government completely changes both the nature and value of the offer. How can one know the value of an offer without considering the value and nature of a condition (i.e. transfer of title) to the offer?

C. The County's reading of RCW 8.25.075(3) under these circumstances would produce absurd results that are contrary to the purpose of the statute.

Chapter 8.25 RCW is intended to ameliorate the inherent disparity between a condemnor and condemnee and it is intended to encourage a fair settlement. But the County wants you to read it in a way that will coerce settlements and lead to absurd results. Consider this scenario: A governmental entity seeks to acquire a corner of a large parcel for a transportation project. The value of the large parcel is \$1,000,000, and the value of the corner being condemned is only \$100,000. The condemnor could – and should, if the County is correct – make a lowball offer to pay \$500,000 for the entire parcel, with

complete confidence that (1) the owner will never agree to sell the entire parcel for that amount, and (2) a jury will never value the partial taking of the corner at more than that. Consequently, regardless of how well the condemnee does at trial in valuing the condemned corner, she or he will never be able to recover fees and costs. In sum, adopting the County's rationale would only incentivize every condemnor in a partial takings situation to "game the system." 31

A reasonable reading of the statute requires an analysis of what constitutes "the highest written offer of settlement submitted...," RCW 8.25.075(3); in other words, what was really offered and how is it valued? And if there are conditions to the offer, they too must be considered to determine the action this case the offer was for an exchange of money for a valuable parcel of real property with improvements. These specific characteristics constitute the County's "highest written offer" and cannot be ignored or disregarded under a plain reading of the statute.

The absurdity of the County's proffered interpretation is amply demonstrated by the facts in this case. According to the County, an

³¹ Washington Courts have long noted the potential for abusive governmental conduct involving condemnations. These include, for example, "unwarranted delay coupled with a[n] affirmative action by the condemning authority resulting in a decrease in property value, actual encouragement of neighborhood deterioration by the condemning authority, direct interference by the condemning authority to prevent development by the landowner, [and] other abusive conduct." *Lange v. State*, 86 Wn.2d 585, 588, 547 P.2d 282 (1976).

offer by the County to Kay to purchase her entire property for \$90,000 would have cut off her entitlement fees because the County's offer was within 10 percent of the inverse damages total of \$96,221.37. This is ridiculous. ³² The Court should avoid interpreting RCW 8.25.075(3) in a manner that would produce absurd results that are contrary to the statute's purpose. ³³

D. Adopting the County's position would DESTROY THE ABILITY OF CONDEMNEES TO RECOVER attorneys' fees in inverse condemnation and partial takings cases.

If the County's position is adopted, it will inevitably nullify the ability of a plaintiff to recover attorneys' fees and costs in cases involving partial takings and inverse condemnation. Simply put, taking that tool out of the condemnee's tool box and eliminating the risk of attorneys' fees and costs for the condemnor fundamentally alters the playing field of eminent domain and inverse condemnation law to the profound detriment of condemnees.

³² Another way to look at this issue would be from the following perspective: The County offered Kay \$552,000 for a property that the jury determined could be sold in its impaired state for \$585,000. This means the County offered to pay Kay no damages. Obviously \$0 is not within 10 percent of \$96,221.37.

³³ Courts are not required to, and should not, read statutes in a manner that would lead to absurd results. *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA*, 188 Wn.2d 421, 443, 395 P.3d 1031 (2017) (courts can avoid a literal reading of a statute if it leads to strained, unlikely, or absurd consequences); *Univ. of Wash. v. City of Seattle*, 188 Wn.2d 823, 834, 399 P.3d 519 (2017) ("We may resist a plain meaning interpretation that would lead to absurd results.").

King County argues that a court must be myopic, and cannot look beyond the dollar amount of the offer. But in reality, the County wants to rewrite the relevant portion of the statute to say:

A superior court. . . shall award or allow to such plaintiff costs including reasonable attorney fees and reasonable expert witness fees, but only if the <u>dollar amount of the</u> judgment awarded to the plaintiff as a result of trial exceeds by ten percent or more the highest written <u>monetary</u> offer of settlement, submitted by the acquiring agency to the plaintiff at least thirty days prior to trial, <u>regardless of the property interest at issue or conditions imposed on the offer.</u>

To the County, the meaning and legal effect of an offer to purchase Kay's entire property for \$552,000 is identical to an offer of \$552,000 to purchase only a 10% interest in Kay's property. Stated differently, had the County offered to buy Kay's entire property for \$90,000 she would not be entitled to fees or costs under the County's interpretation. Moreover, it would not matter to the County if its offer was conditioned on being paid out over the course of 10 years, or even 20 years, with or without interest. And it would not matter if the offer-imposed conditions, such as an indemnity for environmental damages, an assignment of insurance benefits, or a non-compete clause. The *only* thing that matters to King County is the "number," as a standalone, abstract thing, untethered to any property interest, condition of the offer or context in which it occurs. This is absurd. The "highest

offer" can only mean the one that provides the greatest value to the plaintiff.

E. WHEN AN OFFER IS MADE TO PURCHASE PROPERTY, THE OFFER CANNOT BE DIVORCED FROM THE UNDERLYING PROPERTY INTEREST.

The statutory scheme of RCW 8.25 also supports Kay's request for fees and costs. A condemnor in an inverse condemnation case can make two types of offers—an offer to purchase all or a portion of the property at issue for its fair-market value or an offer to pay damages for the diminished value of his or her property. Indeed, King County claims to have made both types of offers in this case.³⁴

Importantly, RCW 8.25.010 provides that a pretrial statement of compensation may be made at least 30 days prior to trial, "showing the amount of total just compensation to be paid" for the "property, *or any interest therein*" that is the subject of the action (emphasis added). This requires the court to consider the property interest the

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